IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Jul 26 2023

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-1000494
Appellate Case 2023-000741

King Chevais Conyers,

Petitioner,

vs.

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Meagan Johnson
Bar No. 103482
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, SC 29204
(803) 445-1333

Counsel for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to call Petitioner's alibi witness.

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate and prepare for trial regarding the telephone evidence presented at trial, specifically, failing to present evidence that Petitioner was not the owner or user of the phone alleged at trial.

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the State's closing argument.

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to communicate with Petitioner and review evidence.

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that Petitioner is not entitled to relief based on newly discovered evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted for murder, first-degree burglary, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 2702. Petitioner proceeded to trial, along with his co-defendant, Jeremiah Belton, and was represented by Christopher Murphy. App. 2702. The jury found him guilty as indicted. He was sentenced to concurrent terms of life imprisonment for murder and first-degree burglary and five years' imprisonment for the weapon charge. App. 2702-2703. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. App. 2703. Appellate Defender David Alexander submitted a brief and motion to be relieved pursuant to *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). App. 2703. The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. App. 2703. The remittitur was sent January 26, 2018. Petitioner filed a *pro se* application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on February 1, 2018 and prior to the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner amended the application. App. 1236-1270. The evidentiary hearing was held on December 8, 2021 and September 16, 2022 before the Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, who ultimately denied and dismissed the application with prejudice by order dated April 17, 2023. *See* App. 2702-2728. Petitioner now submits this petition for writ of certiorari for the Court's consideration.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel was not ineffective by failing to investigate, prepare, and present Petitioner’s alibi witness.

A defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “The Sixth Amendment right to counsel attaches upon initiation of adversarial judicial proceedings and at all critical stages of a criminal trial.” *State v. Sterling*, 377 S.C. 475, 479, 661 S.E.2d 99, 101 (2008). “In a PCR proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of establishing that he or she is entitled to relief.” *Caprood v. State*, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000). “Where counsel articulates a **valid** reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992) (emphasis added).

“Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. We review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180–81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018) (citations omitted). “The Court will reverse the PCR court’s decision when it is controlled by an error of law.” *Pierce v. State*, 338 S.C. 139, 145, 526 S.E.2d 222, 225 (2000).

This Court held in *Walker v. State* that “counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” *Walker v. State*, 407 S.C. 400, 405, 756 S.E.2d 144, 147 (2014). Further, “one component of that duty is to investigate alibi witnesses identified by a defendant, and the failure

to make some effort to contact them to ascertain whether their testimony would aid the defense is unreasonable.” *Id.*

In the case of *Weldon v. State*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals held that trial counsel’s failure to call an alibi witness was ineffective assistance of counsel. *Weldon v. State*, 436 S.C. 69, 870 S.E.2d 183 (Ct. App. 2021). In that case, the defendant’s mother and sister were present at trial and trial counsel had asked them to testify as alibi witnesses. *Id.* at 77. Trial counsel never actually called them as witnesses, however. *Id.* at 77. Trial counsel testified he had filed a notice of an alibi defense but ultimately did not present one. *Id.* at 78. Trial counsel testified at PCR that he “may have declined to call the witnesses because the State might have then called rebuttal witnesses to challenge the alibi testimony and because he wanted to have the last closing argument.” *Id.* at 83. The Court found this reasoning insufficient.

Here, Petitioner repeatedly asked trial counsel to interview his alibi witness, Vondayna Brown. App. 2630. Brown would have testified that Petitioner was with her at her niece’s birthday party the night of the murder. App. 2637-2638. Trial counsel testified that he talked to Brown and filed a notice of alibi defense with the State, intending to call Brown as a witness, similarly to counsel in the *Weldon* case. App. 2599, 2606. Also, just like counsel in *Weldon*, trial counsel failed to call Brown as an alibi witness even though he had discussed her testifying in this case and filed a notice of alibi defense. Trial counsel testified that Brown had car trouble on the day she was intended to testify and trial counsel failed to subpoena her to ensure her appearance at court claiming that he expected her to appear voluntarily. App. 2599, 2606. However, she did not appear and trial counsel failed to move for a continuance to ensure this essential witness was present to testify on Petitioner’s behalf. App. 2606.

When asked about his failure to move for a continuance, trial counsel testified he was not concerned about her not appearing and not testifying because he thought the State would present a rebuttal witness who would contradict her alibi testimony. App. 2607. However, in *Weldon*, counsel in that case also stated he believed the State would present rebuttal testimony which would contradict the alibi witnesses he failed to call as well. The Court still ruled that his failure to call the alibi witnesses was ineffective assistance of counsel. Similarly, here, trial counsel's failure to call Petitioner's alibi witness was ineffective assistance of counsel. It is for the jury to decide which witnesses' testimonies to believe and what weight to give testimony presented. Counsel's failure to subpoena Brown to testify and move for a continuance when she did not appear at court to testify prejudiced Petitioner because he was not able to present his alibi witness to the jury.

It should also be noted that Petitioner's co-defendant, Jeremiah Belton was granted PCR on this very issue. App. 2733. His trial attorney also did not call his alibi witness to testify on his behalf at trial. App. 2732. After his PCR evidentiary hearing, the PCR Court ruled that Belton's trial counsel's performance was ineffective on this issue and Belton was entitled to a new trial. App. 2733.

Trial counsel was ineffective for not preparing and presenting Petitioner's alibi witness and the PCR court erred in ruling otherwise. Petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to counsel was violated by trial counsel's ineffective assistance.

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate and prepare for trial regarding the telephone evidence presented at trial, specifically, failing to present evidence that Petitioner was not the owner or user of the phone alleged at trial.

“A criminal defense attorney has a duty to investigate, but this duty is limited to reasonable investigation.” *Thompson v. Wainwright*, 787 F.2d 1447, 1450 (11th Cir.1986); see also *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. at 691, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). When evaluating the reasonableness of counsel's conduct, “the court should keep in mind that counsel's function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). While the scope of the investigation will depend on the trial and the issues involved, “at a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331–32, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) (citations omitted). “Where counsel articulates a **valid** reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992) (emphasis added).

At trial, the State presented evidence alleging Petitioner was the owner or user of a phone number ending in 9516. App. 432-448. The State presented this evidence through Constance Manigault. She testified that she was Delaney's girlfriend at the time, one of the co-defendant's who was shot and killed during this burglary and murder. App. 430-431. She further testified she had previously met Petitioner through Delaney and she identified Petitioner in court. App. 432-433. She testified that after she met Petitioner, she saved his number in her phone which ended in 9516. App. 433. Finally, she testified Delaney called her from that number on the night of the crimes and she returned the call the next morning looking for Delaney. App. 436-448. This was relevant because the State presented evidence that this cellphone was tracked going from North Charleston, to Columbia, to Charlotte, and back to where the murder occurred. App. 2596. The

State used the evidence to place Petitioner with the other co-defendants when they drove all over North and South Carolina and ended up at the victim's home. App. 2596. This evidence was important because Petitioner maintained that he was not present at all during the co-defendants' excursions and ultimately at the home where the burglary and murder occurred.

Brown testified at PCR that she and Petitioner shared a phone at that time and it was not the number of the cellphone in question at trial. App. 2581. She further testified that Petitioner did not have any other cellphone than the one they shared. App. 2581. Brown did not testify at trial, however, as mentioned above.

At PCR, trial counsel testified predominantly in generalities about his usual practice and not with any specificity about many aspects related to Petitioner's trial. He testified the State had scant evidence that this cellphone actually belonged to Petitioner but that the issue was whether he used the phone, not whether he owned the phone. App. 2597. The PCR Court agreed with trial counsel that was the issue, usage not ownership, and that trial counsel's performance was sufficient with cross-examination of Manigault. App. 2713-2714.

However, trial counsel's testimony at PCR does not demonstrate that trial counsel did any investigation or preparation for trial regarding this issue. When asked whether he discussed with any witnesses or tried to present any evidence that this phone did not belong to Petitioner he responded, "I think I tried to figure that out." App. 2608. He went on to explain that the issue was not who owned the phone but who used it and then he just never answered the question about what efforts he made to question anyone or present any evidence regarding whether this phone was owned or used by Petitioner. App. 2608-2609. He continued by stating "[i]t was very scant testimony, whatever it was." App. 2609. At no point during his testimony did counsel

remember what the evidence was against Petitioner regarding the phone or make any mention to how he addressed the issue in preparation for trial or at trial, with exception of challenging the “ping technology” testimony. App. 2597. He did not articulate any strategic reason as to why he did not do any preparation or present any evidence at trial to refute the State’s evidence that the phone was used by Petitioner.

This evidence placed Petitioner at the crime scene. It was essential to the State’s case and extremely important for trial counsel to focus on and discredit. Trial counsel failed to do the bare minimum required by criminal defense counsel in at least investigating this issue. Furthermore, he did not articulate any valid, strategic reason as to why he did not do so and Petitioner was prejudiced as a result. Petitioner’s right to counsel was violated by trial counsel’s ineffective assistance.

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the State’s closing argument.

When trial counsel fails to object to improper comments made by the solicitor in closing argument and the comments prejudice the defendant, this Court has found that failure to object is ineffective assistance of trial counsel. *Vasquez v. State*, 388 S.C. 447, 459, 698 S.E.2d 561, 566-567 (2010)(finding trial counsel’s failure to object to the solicitor’s improper comments in closing argument where he drew a correlation between the events of September 11, 2001 and the acts for which Petitioner was standing trial constituted deficient performance which prejudiced the Petitioner); *see also Tappeiner v. State*, 416 S.C. 239, 785 S.E.2d 471 (2016) (finding that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to State’s closing argument comments vouching for the victim’s credibility and comments appealing to the juror’s emotions).

“A closing argument must stay contained to the evidence within the record or any reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom.” *Vasquez v. State*, 388 S.C. 447, 458, 698 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2010). “A solicitor is allowed to argue his or her version of the evidence and to comment on how much weight to give such evidence.” *Vasquez*, 388 S.C. at 458, 698 S.E.2d at 566. “However, a solicitor's duty is to see justice done, not to convict a defendant.” *Id.*

When counsel makes an improper argument, opposing counsel should “immediately object and ... have a record made of the statements or language complained of and ... ask the court for a distinct ruling thereon.” *State v. Black*, 319 S.C. 515, 521, 462 S.E.2d 311, 315 (Ct. App. 1995). “The trial court has broad discretion when dealing with the propriety of the solicitor's argument, including the question of whether to grant a defendant's mistrial motion.” *State v. Copeland*, 321 S.C. 318, 324, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996). In evaluating these types of comments, this Court first decides whether the comment at issue was improper, then “the question becomes whether trial counsel’s failure to object to these comments prejudiced Petitioner and, in turn, denied him effective assistance of counsel.” *Vasquez v. State*, 388 S.C.447, 460, 698 S.E.2d 561, 567 (2010).

This Court has stated:

Improper comments do not automatically require reversal if they are not prejudicial to the defendant. On appeal, the appellate court will view the alleged impropriety of the solicitor's argument in the context of the entire record The appellant has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument. The relevant question is whether the solicitor's comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.

Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166-67 (1998) (citations omitted)

This Court went into great detail about the danger of improper comments by solicitors in closing arguments in *Fortune v. State*, 428 S.C. 545, 837 S.E.2d 37 (2019). In *Fortune*, the solicitor

made comments to the jury suggesting “he had already determined Fortune was guilty” *Id.* at 551. In deciding these comments made to the jury were improper and violated Fortune’s right to Due Process, this Court relied on the Supreme Court of the United States previous case where the Court admonished prosecutors stating:

The [prosecutor] is the representative not of an ordinary party to a controversy, but of a sovereignty whose obligation to govern impartially is as compelling as its obligation to govern at all; and whose interest, therefore, in a criminal prosecution is not that it shall win a case, but that justice shall be done. As such, he is in a peculiar and very definite sense the servant of the law, the twofold aim of which is that guilt shall not escape or innocence suffer. He may prosecute with earnestness and vigor—indeed, he should do so. But, while he may strike hard blows, he is not at liberty to strike foul ones. It is as much his duty to refrain from improper methods calculated to produce a wrongful conviction as it is to use every legitimate means to bring about a just one.

Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 633, (1935); see also *State v. Northcutt*, 372 S.C. 207, 222, 641 S.E.2d 873, 881 (2007) (“Solicitors are bound to rules of fairness in their closing arguments”); *State v. Linder*, 276 S.C. 304, 312, 278 S.E.2d 335, 339 (1981) (“While the solicitor should prosecute vigorously, his duty is not to convict a defendant but to see justice done.”).

The Supreme Court of the United States has condemned a prosecutor's closing argument in which he suggests to the jury his “personal impression[]” the defendant is guilty.

[S]uch comments can convey the impression that evidence not presented to the jury, but known to the prosecutor, supports the charges against the defendant and can thus jeopardize the defendant's right to be tried solely on the basis of the evidence presented to the jury; and the prosecutor's opinion carries with it the imprimatur of the Government and may induce the jury to trust the Government's judgment rather than its own view of the evidence.

United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 18-19, 105 S. Ct. 1038, 1048, (1985).

While these cases’ procedural postures differ from Petitioner’s, they are still instructive to demonstrate the comments made by the solicitor in the closing argument were improper.

Here, the Solicitor's comments during closing argument fall into this category condemned by both the Supreme Court of the United States and this Court: comments suggesting to the jury the solicitor's personal impression that the Defendant is guilty. During the closing argument, the solicitor told the jury, "[I]et's talk a minute about the culture of these guys. They're criminals. But we don't understand it. But they do. You don't ask questions. You don't talk to the police. There's a code. You don't snitch. You don't trust anybody. You don't flinch, or think it's odd when you're at a woman's house and everybody has a loaded weapon. Ecstasy, cocaine, marijuana. And you protect your associate. That's their culture." App. 1137. At PCR, Petitioner's trial counsel testified that he does not object in trials because objections can "bring more attention and more focus to whatever issue it is." App. 2614. The PCR Court ruled that the solicitor's comments were not improper because they did not "appeal to the personal biases of the jury" and "were not calculated to arouse the jurors' passions or prejudices." App. 2722.

However, comments that appeal to the personal biases of the jury or are calculated to arouse the jurors' passions or prejudices are not the only type of improper comments that can be made by a solicitor in closing argument. Solicitors should also refrain from suggesting to the jury their personal impression that the defendant is guilty. This improper comment "carries with it the imprimatur of the Government and may induce the jury to trust the Government's judgment rather than its own view of the evidence." The comments made here did just that. The solicitor suggested to the jury that he had decided Petitioner was guilty and not only was he guilty in this case, he was a criminal and he had his own criminal culture and criminal rules to abide by.

When questioned about trial counsel's failure to object to this comment, trial counsel testified he did not object because he did not want to draw attention to the comment and he

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