STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

**RECEIVED**

**Nov 27 2023**

CERTIORARI TO CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Kristi L. Harrington, Trial Judge  
Jennifer B. McCoy, PCR Judge

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2023-000741

---

KING CONYERS,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE DIXON  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that counsel was not ineffective for failing to call Petitioner's alibi witness when the PCR Court found credible counsel and the solicitor's testimony that the State would have called a rebuttal witness to refute the alibi, and the purported alibi did not preclude Petitioner from traveling to McClellanville to participate in the murder.**

Petitioner asserts trial counsel was ineffective for not calling Petitioner's girlfriend Vondayna Brown as an alibi witness. He contends counsel spoke to Brown and filed a notice of an alibi defense but failed to subpoena her or request a continuance when she did not attend trial. However, the PCR court found credible trial counsel's and the solicitor's testimony that Brown's testimony would have opened the door to the State calling Brown's sister to refute the alibi. Likewise, the PCR court found not credible Brown's and Petitioner's testimony that Petitioner was with her at her niece's birthday party the evening of the murder. Based on these credibility findings, counsel's decision to not move for a continuance when Brown did not appear at trial was reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Further, it is not reasonably likely Brown's testimony would have changed the outcome of trial. Thus, probative evidence supports the PCR court's denial of relief.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must prove (1) counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) the applicant sustained prejudice as a result of counsel's deficient performance. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984). A PCR applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). "The test for effective assistance of counsel is whether the representation was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." Watson v. State, 287 S.C. 356, 357, 338 S.E.2d 636, 637 (1985). Courts presume counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional

judgment. Butler, 286 S.C. at 441, 334 S.E.2d at 813. An applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Here, the PCR court found credible trial counsel's and the solicitor's testimony that if Brown had testified, the State would call Brown's sister as a rebuttal witness to contradict Brown's testimony that Petitioner was with her at her niece's birthday party. (App. 2606-07, 2677, 2679-81). These findings are supported by probative evidence, and this Court should defer to the PCR court's credibility findings. (App. 224-26). See Thompson, 423 S.C. at 247, 814 S.E.2d at 493 (providing appellate courts "defer to the PCR court's credibility findings as to witnesses who testified before the PCR court"). Specifically, trial counsel credibly testified he spoke to Brown's sister, who "was adamant [Petitioner] was not at that birthday party." (App. 2606). Counsel stated he planned to call Brown as a witness prior to talking to Brown's sister, but after speaking with the sister and "eyeball[ing] her and hear[ing] her story, there was no way [he] was calling anybody else to claim . . . these folks were at the birthday party." (App. 2607). Counsel explained, "[K]nowing that the sister was gonna come in and say that Ms. Brown and [Petitioner] are lying about this, there was no need [to request a continuance]. I didn't have any heartburn about her not coming up and testifying about this." (App. 2607). Likewise, the PCR court found not credible Petitioner's testimony and Brown's testimony that Petitioner was with Brown at the birthday party the night of the murder. (App. 2712). Based on the foregoing testimony and the court's credibility findings, the PCR court properly found counsel articulated a valid reason for not requesting a continuance to procure Brown's testimony, and Petitioner did not prove counsel was deficient.

Further, it is not reasonably likely Brown's testimony would have changed the outcome of trial. Initially, this Court should defer to the PCR court's credibility finding regarding Petitioner's and Brown's testimony since the PCR court had the opportunity to observe the demeanor of each

witness at the PCR hearing. See Thompson, 423 S.C. at 247, 814 S.E.2d at 493 (providing appellate courts “defer to the PCR court's credibility findings as to witnesses who testified before the PCR court”); Foye, 335 S.C. at 589, 518 S.E.2d at 267 (“Where matters of credibility are involved, this Court gives great deference to a judge's findings, because this Court lacks the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses.”).

Further, Brown’s testimony did not establish an alibi for the time of the murder. Brown testified Petitioner was with her at a child’s birthday party around 5:00 p.m. on July 10—the afternoon *after* the murder. (App. 2575-76). Even if true, the cell tower evidence showed the phone linked to Petitioner was in the West Columbia area on July 8-9; the Orangeburg area around 12:56 a.m. on July 10; the Charleston area between 2:48 and 2:59 a.m.; the Mount Pleasant area between 3:17 and 3:29 a.m.; the Goose Creek area around 5:26 a.m.; the North Charleston area around 5:52 a.m.; the Orangeburg area around 7:34 a.m.; and back in the West Columbia area around 8:21 a.m.<sup>3</sup> (App. 2315-2327). Based on the timeline for the murder, the birthday party would not have precluded Petitioner from traveling to McClellanville to participate in the murder. Thus, Brown’s testimony did not establish a viable alibi.

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner’s reliance on Weldon v. State, 436 S.C. 69, 870 S.E.2d 183 (2021) is misplaced. In Weldon, the Court of Appeals determined no evidence supported the PCR court’s finding that counsel articulated a valid strategic reason for not calling alibi witnesses when counsel (1) “agreed with the State’s suggestion that he *may* have declined to call the witnesses because the State *might* have then called rebuttal witnesses to challenge the alibi testimony,” (2) wanted to retain the last closing argument, and (3) “repeatedly testified he did not know why he chose not to call the witnesses.” Id. at 83, 870 S.E.2d at 190 (emphasis added).

---

<sup>3</sup> Contrary to Petitioner’s assertion, the cell phone expert did not testify the phone linked to Petitioner began in the Charleston area or travelled to the Charlotte area. (PWC 9; App. 2315-27).

Here, however, counsel and the solicitor credibly testify that the State had Brown's sister available as a rebuttal witness to contradict any testimony that Petitioner was at the birthday party. This is vastly different from Weldon, where the possibility of a rebuttal witness was mere speculation. Based on credible testimony that Brown's sister would have contradicted testimony that Petitioner was at the birthday party, calling Brown as a witness to testify to that fact would have undermined Petitioner's credibility to the jury. Because (1) counsel articulated a valid reason for not calling Brown (or moving for a continuance to procure Brown's testimony) and (2) it is not reasonably likely the outcome would have been different had Brown testified—especially in light of her sister's expected rebuttal testimony—Petitioner did not prove deficiency or prejudice. Thus, the PCR court properly denied this claim.<sup>4</sup>

**II. Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Petitioner failed to prove counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and prepare for trial the cellphone evidence when counsel articulated a valid reason for not further investigating ownership of the phone, and Petitioner did not enter evidence showing what counsel would have uncovered upon further investigation.**

Petitioner contends counsel was ineffective for not investigating and preparing for trial regarding telephone evidence presented, specifically evidence that Petitioner was not the owner or user of the phone linked to him at trial (the 9516 number). (Pet. 8-11). He contends trial counsel's testimony on this issue was general and did not demonstrate he did any investigation or preparation for trial regarding this issue. Although Petitioner bears the burden of proof, he neglected to enter any additional evidence counsel would have discovered upon a further investigation. Thus, the PCR court properly found Petitioner did not overcome the presumption that counsel was effective.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner recalled that trial counsel told him the State had "some

---

<sup>4</sup> Petitioner's reliance on his co-defendant Belton receiving post-conviction relief based on his attorney's failure to call an alibi witness is likewise misplaced, especially when the purported alibis are not the same.

cellphone numbers, none linking to [Petitioner].” (PCR 70). He testified he lived in Columbia at the time of the murder and did not have an “843” number.<sup>5</sup> (App. 2639-40). Petitioner stated he told counsel to look through that phone to see if that number had contacted any of Petitioner’s family members or his girlfriend. (App. 2643-44). Petitioner agreed Manigault testified at trial that Petitioner used the phone but maintained he did not know Manigault. (App. 2646).

Brown testified she was not aware that Petitioner had a phone ending in 9516. She stated she owned an Android phone that she shared with Petitioner; that number did not end in 9516.

Counsel recalled the State had a phone that it alleged Petitioner used the night of the murder, but Petitioner denied it was his. (App. 2608). However, counsel explained ownership of the phone wasn’t the issue because the State’s evidence indicated Petitioner had that phone and was using it to send texts. (App. 2608-09). He averred there was “very little evidence” that the phone belonged to Petitioner. (App. 2597).

Petitioner did not meet his burden of overcoming the presumption that counsel was effective in his investigation of the phone evidence. In support of his claim, Petitioner merely avers (1) Brown could have testified Petitioner did not own a phone ending in 9516 and (2) counsel should have further investigated the call log of the 9516 number. However, as trial counsel testified and the PCR court found, ownership of the phone wasn’t the primary issue; rather, the issue was who used the phone the night of the murder.<sup>6</sup> Thus, it is not reasonably likely the outcome would have been different had Brown testified to the jury that Petitioner did not own a

---

<sup>5</sup> The number the State linked to Petitioner began with 843 and ended with 9516.

<sup>6</sup> In linking the 9516 number to Petitioner, the State relied on Manigault’s testimony that she entered the 9516 number in her phone as “Bez” (whom she identified at trial as Petitioner); Delany contacted her from that number the night of the murder; and she spoke to Bez on that number the next day about Delaney’s death. (Tr. 429, 431-36). Probative evidence supports the PCR court’s finding that counsel effectively cross-examined Manigault about her identification of Petitioner as Bez. Specifically, counsel elicited testimony that Manigault had only met Bez once before and she could not recall when she entered Bez’s number in her phone. (Tr. 438-40).

phone with a number ending in 9516.<sup>7</sup> Further, and critically, Petitioner did not enter any evidence at the PCR hearing about what the call log of the 9516 phone would have revealed and thus did not prove prejudice. Petitioner's claims were based on mere speculation about what the call log *might* have shown. Thus, Petitioner did not meet his burden of proving deficiency or prejudice, and the PCR court properly denied this claim.

**III. The PCR court properly found counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the State's closing argument when the closing argument was not improper, and any alleged improper comment did not so infect the trial with unfairness as to violate due process.**

Petitioner contends the PCR court erred in finding counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the State's closing argument. Specifically, he contends comments by the solicitor suggested to the jury the solicitor's personal impression that Petitioner was guilty. Petitioner further contends counsel did not articulate a valid strategy for not objecting. However, contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the solicitor's comments were not improper. Further, these comments did not so infect the trial with unfairness as to violate due process. Thus, the PCR court properly determined counsel was not ineffective for not objecting.

"To find whether the assistant solicitor's comments in closing argument violated the defendant's due process rights, we must determine whether the comments were improper, and if so, whether the improper argument so unfairly prejudiced the defendant as to deny him a fair trial." Fortune v. State, 428 S.C. 545, 549, 837 S.E.2d 37, 39 (2019). In determining whether an improper comment prejudiced a defendant, "[t]he relevant question is whether the prosecutors' comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181 (1986).

---

<sup>7</sup> Notably, Petitioner testified to the jury that the phone was not his. (App. 1070, 1073). Likewise, Manigault testified Petitioner told her he had erased the contacts on his phone because his girlfriend "like[d] to go through his phone." (App. 439-40)

In Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 87-88 (1935), the United States Supreme Court found the following comments improper:

I was examining a woman that I knew knew Berger and could identify him, she was standing right here looking at him, and I couldn't say, 'Isn't that the man?' Now, imagine that! But that is the rules of the game, and I have to play within those rules.

....

But, oh, [criminal defense lawyers] can twist the questions, they can sit up in their offices and devise ways to pass counterfeit money; 'but don't let the Government touch me, that is unfair; please leave my client alone.

Likewise, in United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 5-6 (1985), the United States Supreme Court found the following statements improper:

I think [defense counsel] said that not anyone sitting at this table thinks that Mr. Young intended to defraud Apco. Well, I was sitting there and I think he was. . . . If we are allowed to give our personal impressions since it was asked of me.

....

I don't know what you call that, I call it fraud.

You can look at the evidence and you can remember the testimony, you remember what [the witnesses] said and what [respondent] admitted they said. I think it's a fraud.

....

I don't know whether you call it honor and integrity, I don't call it that, [defense counsel] does. If you feel you should acquit him for that it's your pleasure. I don't think you're doing your job as jurors in finding facts as opposed to the law that this Judge is going to instruct you, you think that's honor and integrity then stand up here in Oklahoma courtroom and say that's honor and integrity; I don't believe it.

In Fortune, 428 S.C. at 547, 837 S.E.2d at 38, our Supreme Court found the following comments improper:

“My job is to present the truth,” and . . . “if you look in the ... Code of Laws ... [I] have to say what the truth is.” “On the other hand,” the prosecutor told the jury, “the defense attorneys' jobs are to manipulate the truth. Their job is to shroud the truth. Their job is [to] confuse jurors. Their job is to do whatever they have to -- without regard for the truth.” The prosecutor explained that if he—the prosecutor—believes “somebody else did the crime,” then he must “dismiss it.” “And [if] I know the person has done something that I think the facts show they're guilty of, then I can't [dismiss] it. I have to go forward with it.”

Finally, in State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 641 S.E.2d 873 (2007), our Supreme Court examined the following from the solicitor’s argument during the penalty phase of a capital trial:

(1) crying numerous times throughout the argument; (2) telling the jury “we will kick the baby some more” if they returned a life sentence; (3) dehumanizing Appellant (“I don't even call him a person”); (4) threatening the jury (“it will be on your heads if he kills someone else [during his life sentence in prison]”); (5) declaring an “open season on babies;” (6) telling the jury he “expects” the death penalty; and (7) enacting a funeral procession complete with a black shroud covering the baby's crib.

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